

# EVIDENCE CENTRE TE POKAPŪ TAUNAKITANGA

New Zealand Government

# Success factors for a home visiting programme

**Evidence brief** 

The Oranga Tamariki Evidence Centre works to build the evidence base that helps us better understand wellbeing and what works to improve outcomes for New Zealand's children, young people and their whānau.

**Email**: research@ot.govt.nz

Author: Dr lain Matheson

Published: June 2022

ISBN: 978-1-99-115507-8

If you need this material in a different version, please email us at research@ot.govt.nz and we will provide it for you.

#### Citation guidance:

This report can be referenced as Matheson, I. (2022). Success factors for a home visiting programme: Evidence brief. Wellington, New Zealand: Oranga Tamariki—Ministry for Children.

#### Copyright:

This document *Success factors for a home visiting programme: Evidence brief* is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

Please attribute © New Zealand Government, Oranga Tamariki—Ministry for Children 2022.

#### Disclaimer:

Oranga Tamariki has made every effort to ensure the information in this report is reliable, but does not guarantee its accuracy and does not accept liability for any errors.



## **Contents**

Executive summary	1
Introduction	3
Background	6
Family Start	6
Child and family support services	7
Oranga Tamariki	9
Methodology	11
Findings	13
What are home visiting programmes?	13
How does Family Start compare with other mainstream home visiting programmes?	15
What outcomes do home visiting programmes improve and for whom?	16
Why are home visiting programmes not more successful?	19
Where programmes are effective, what are their success factors?	20
What other potential success factors have at least some supporting evidence?	22
Internationally, what is the direction of travel?	23
Conclusion	29
References	30
List of tables Table 1: Early years child and family support services in Aotearoa New Zealand . Table 2: Howard and Brooks-Gunn (2009) select programmes and domain effectiveness	
Table 3: 20 home visiting programme components	21
List of figures Figure 1: The Hardiker model of intervention frameworks	Ω
Figure 2: Child-focused to parent-focused – the 2Gen continuum	
Figure 3: Duggan's home visiting roadmap to service delivery conceptual model.	



## **Executive summary**

Family Start is an evidence-informed nationally-designed, voluntary, intensive, long-term, home visiting programme that is locally delivered by community, iwi and Māori organisations across New Zealand. With a kaupapa that is described as "child-centred...strengths-based...and...client-led" (Oranga Tamariki, 2022, p.11), Family Start's rationale is "improving children's health, learning and relationships, family/whānau circumstances, environment and safety" (Oranga Tamariki, 2022, p.10). A recently completed evaluation of Family Start (Allen+Clarke & Oranga Tamariki, 2021a, 2021b) found that the programme has a positive impact overall. However the evaluation also found that some programme components may need to be adapted to better suit some whānau. Furthermore some partner organisations are similarly asking for more flexibility on how they deliver the programme.

The purpose of this evidence brief is to review the international, and any national, home visiting programme literature to help Oranga Tamariki ensure that the current Family Start model supports all partner organisations in their practice, and that whānau receive quality and effective support from the programme. As such, Oranga Tamariki is looking to better understand key indicators of success that are essential for a home visiting service, as well as any factors that are likely to enhance rather than erode programme effectiveness for these whānau, without compromising effectiveness for other users and the programme as a whole.

The following three research questions were developed for the evidence brief.

- 1. What critical factors make a home visiting programme, as applicable to the Family Start context, successful?
- 2. To what extent do such critical factors align with:
  - Family Start as currently designed and delivered?
  - the needs of tamariki and their whānau as identified in the most recent Family Start evaluation reports?
- 3. Which, if any, Family Start programme components could be adapted slightly and/or delivered with a little more flexibility in order to better suit some whānau?

Having reviewed the literature generally, and systematic reviews and meta-analyses in particular, it transpires that these questions are not in fact answerable. While there is a considerable body of research on home visiting programmes, and most of this focuses on determining whether such programmes are effective, home visiting programmes are also surprisingly diverse.

However, by presenting what material is available, this evidence brief can still contribute to helping Oranga Tamariki and its partners make evidence-informed decisions while considering any adaptations to the programme to better suit whānau needs, respond to the recent evaluation recommendations to ensure cultural



responsiveness, and to further meet their obligations under section 7AA of the Oranga Tamariki Act 1989.

To that end this evidence brief also addresses:

- Home visiting programme definitions
- A comparison between Family Start features and mainstream home visiting programmes (with three Indigenous home visiting programme case studies in a companion report)
- Outcomes that home visiting programmes improve
- Why home visiting programmes are not more successful.

This brief identifies a number of possible success factors, for example, antenatal participant recruitment, high visit frequency, aligning programme choice with community needs and wishes, and the quality of the helping relationship. However, as well as recruiting and retaining a sufficient number of families (a major challenge in replicating and scaling up home visiting programmes), only antenatal participant recruitment over postnatal recruitment is strongly supported as a clear success factor.

While the literature does call for more research on such success factors, there is also a growing recognition of the importance of other factors such as:

- Revisiting fidelity and the rise of implementation science
- Greater programme flexibility and adaptability
- Increased focus on social and emotional wellbeing and the effects of trauma, and
- Those associated with the delivery organisation and the wider system in which an individual programme operates.



## Introduction

Established in 1998, Family Start is an evidence-informed nationally-designed, voluntary, intensive, long-term, home visiting programme that is locally delivered by community, iwi and Māori organisations across the country. With a kaupapa that is described as "child-centred...strengths-based...and...client-led" (Oranga Tamariki, 2022, p.11), Family Start's rationale is "improving children's health, learning and relationships, family/whānau circumstances, environment and safety" (Oranga Tamariki, 2022, p.10). Family Start was originally designed for the Aotearoa New Zealand context (as it was at that time), and as well as being expanded over the years, it has also been periodically adapted and refined with, for example, the development of the online parenting resource tool (Oranga Tamariki, 2022; Rameka & Fitzpatrick, 2017).

A recently completed evaluation of Family Start (Allen+Clarke & Oranga Tamariki, 2021a, 2021b) found that the programme has a positive impact overall. However the evaluation also found that some programme components may need to be adapted to better suit some whānau. Furthermore, some partner organisations are similarly asking for more flexibility on how they deliver the programme; for example some iwi and Māori partners have reported that the prescribed timeframes do not always allow workers to engage fully with whānau.

While increasingly available in, and adapted for, other countries, historically home visiting programmes as addressed in this evidence brief are a US construct. First developed in the 1980s, usually by university research centres and supported with randomised-controlled trials, last year approximately 300,000 US families participated in home visiting programmes. In 2020, evidence-based home visiting programmes were available in all 50 states, the District of Columbia, five territories, 22 tribal communities, and 53 percent of US counties (National Home Visiting Resource Center, 2021). While US states may fund more than one or even several home visiting models, many follow either Healthy Families America and/or the Nurse Family Partnership (Lewandowski, 2018). The research organisation MDRC (n.d.) has identified nine different evidence-based home visiting programmes, while the US National Home Visiting Resource Center (2021) yearbook includes details of 15 programmes that are deemed to have met federal evidential standards as evidence-based, as well as 10 other emerging models.

The purpose of this evidence brief is therefore to review the international, and any national, home visiting literature to help Oranga Tamariki ensure that the current Family Start model supports all partner organisations in their practice, and that whānau receive quality and effective support from the programme. As such there is a need to better understand key indicators of success that are essential for a home visiting service, as well as any factors that are likely to enhance rather than erode programme effectiveness for these whānau, while also not compromising effectiveness for other users and the programme as a whole. This evidence brief on home visiting programme success factors seeks to address this need.



The following three research questions were developed for the evidence brief.

- 1. What critical factors make a home visiting programme, as applicable to the Family Start context, successful?
- 2. To what extent do such critical factors align with:
  - Family Start as currently designed and delivered?
  - the needs of tamariki and their whānau as identified in the most recent Family Start evaluation reports?
- 3. Which, if any, Family Start programme components could be adapted slightly and/or delivered with a little more flexibility in order to better suit some whānau?

At the outset it is important to clearly state that it transpires that these questions are not in fact answerable on the basis of the international home visiting literature as it currently stands. However, by presenting what material is available, this evidence brief can still contribute to helping Oranga Tamariki and its partners make evidence-informed decisions while considering any adaptations to the programme to better suit whānau needs, respond to the recent evaluation recommendations to ensure cultural responsiveness, and to further meet their obligations under section 7AA of the Oranga Tamariki Act 1989.

In terms of the structure of the report, following a brief background section, the report is devoted to presenting the relevant findings from the research literature. An accompanying report provides three home visiting programme case studies, used with or adapted for Indigenous people, that may be relevant to the Aotearoa New Zealand context.

Finally, a word of caution on terminology. The term home visiting program/programme is very widely used in the literature. However, extended or other terms are sometimes used. For example:

- Home visiting program for child-well-being (e.g. California Evidence-based Clearinghouse for Child Welfare, n.d.)
- Maternal home visiting program (e.g. Childhood Begins at Home, n.d.)
- Early childhood home visiting program (e.g. Supplee, 2016)
- Tribal home visiting (e.g. Parents as Teachers, n.d.)
- Enhanced home visiting (e.g. National Center for Healthy Safe Children, n.d.)
- Paraprofessional home visiting programs (e.g. Peacock et al., 2013)
- Home-based support (e.g. Bennett et al., 2007)
- Evidence-based home visiting (e.g. MDRC, n.d.)
- Sustained nurse home visiting program (e.g. McDonald et al., 2012).

Some of these terms may be used interchangeably. Some of these and others may capture an important characteristic of a programme, e.g. whether it is designed for indigenous people, whether it has an education focus or a support focus, or is primarily targeted at parents or their children. However, the recent emergence of the



terms Sustained nurse home visiting program (e.g. McDonald et al., 2012) and Paraprofessional home visiting programs (e.g. Peacock et al., 2013) is particularly worth noting as each of these terms is essentially referring to a different subset of home visiting programmes, i.e. those programmes that are staffed by qualified nurses and those that are staffed by paraprofessionals. When referring to empirical studies, systematic reviews and meta-analyses, I may make a distinction between these where it appears important to do so.



# **Background**

This section starts with a brief discussion of Family Start, before placing the programme within the wider context of programmes and services to support families with young children in Aotearoa New Zealand. Attention then turns to two widely used frameworks that can be used to conceptually locate family support programmes, before a brief examination of the current Oranga Tamariki context.

## **Family Start**

Established in 1998, Family Start was initially one part of a national inter-agency Strengthening Families umbrella strategy which, as well as Strengthening Families interagency case-conferencing, was to also include High and Complex Needs, and Social Workers in Schools (Matheson, 2020b; MSD, 2005). The strategy was launched in 1997 and was strongly supported by the Directors-General of the Department of Social Welfare and the Ministry of Health, and the Secretary of the Ministry of Education. The intent was that the Strengthening Families strategy would enable government agencies (including territorial local authorities) to work more 'efficiently and effectively' with the country's most 'at-risk children'. Initially the involvement of NGOs, including Māori and Pasifika social services was limited. Over those first few years, government ministries and departments jointly reported annually as part of a published report on cross-sectoral outcome measures for children (Matheson, 2020b).

Family Start was initially based on the Christchurch Early Start programme (Cribb, 2009; Early Start Project, n.d.; Fergusson et al., 2005, 2012) which was developed in the mid-1990s by a consortium of Christchurch Health and Development Study researchers, including the late Professor Fergusson, and Christchurch service providers (Matheson, 2020a; Vaithianathan et al., 2019). The Early Start programme which still operates in Christchurch today, was itself an adaptation of the Hawaii Healthy Start Program (Vaithianathan et al., 2019). The Hawaii Healthy Start Program, while no longer widely used in Hawaii (State of Hawaii Department of Health, n.d.) was the first home-visiting programme to be adopted in the US statewide (Jack et al., 2015). Early Start, unlike Family Start or to perhaps a lesser extent the Hawaii Healthy Start Program (Duggan et al., 1999, 2004), is internationally recognised as an effective evidence-based early childhood home visiting service delivery model (US Department. of Health and Human Services, n.d.). Here in Aotearoa New Zealand it was also recognised as an effective home visiting programme by the Social Policy Evaluation and Research Unit (2015).

Family Start now operates across 46 provider sites. It uses a comprehensive set of referral criteria (Oranga Tamariki, n.d.); the programme specifically targets and supports new and expectant parents and their families/whānau, who may "struggle with challenges or problems that put health, education and social outcomes for their children at risk" (Oranga Tamariki, 2022, p.10). While it has not been the subject of a randomised-controlled trial, Family Start has been the subject of various research studies, evaluations and reviews (e.g. Allen+Clarke & Oranga Tamariki, 2021a,



2021b; Cribb, 2009; Davies & Roberts, 2013; Fielding, 2011; Martin, 2014; Rameka & Fitzpatrick, 2017; Vaithianathan et al., 2016).

## Child and family support services

Home visiting programmes are only one of several ways for government agencies and community, iwi and Māori organisations to support expectant and new parents and their babies and young children in Aotearoa New Zealand. Some other examples are shown in the following table:

Table 1: Early years child and family support services in Aotearoa New Zealand

FUNDER	PROGRAMME/SERVICE				
Oranga Tamariki	Strengthening Families (Matheson, 2020b)				
Health	Well Child Tamariki Ora (Lead Maternity Carers, GP team, Well Child Tamariki Ora provider, and B4 School Check)				
	Mokopuna Ora (Conectus, n.d.)				
	Triple P <sup>1</sup> (Triple P Centre, n.d.; Whāraurau <sup>2</sup> , n.d.)				
	Parent Child Interaction Therapy (PCIT) (Whāraurau, n.d.)				
	Plunketline (Plunket, 2021)				
Education	Incredible Years (Ministry of Education; Whāraurau, n.d.)				
	Teen parent units <sup>3</sup> (Association of Teen Parent Educators New Zealand, n.d.; Education Review Office, 2018; Te Kete Ipurangi, n.d.)				
Te Puni Kōkiri	Whānau Ora (Te Puni Kōkiri, 2018a, 2018b, 2019)				
Community, iwi and Māori organisations	Parenting Education Classes e.g. Barnardos, Parents Centres, and Plunket				
	Plunket Family Centres				
	Various other services and programmes				

Such programmes and services, and how Family Start relates to these, can usefully be viewed from the perspective of the two following complementary models:

## The Hardiker model

Building on socio-ecological theory, in the United Kingdom during the 1990s Pauline Hardiker and colleagues developed a pyramid-shaped model of the different levels of intervention needed in a society within a population of children (Hardiker et al, 1991)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Association of Teen Parent Educators New Zealand (ATPENZ) has 25 member services across the country from Invercargill, Southland to Kaikohe, Northland.



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Online version of Triple P also available

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Whāraurau national centre for Infant, Child and Adolescent Mental Health (ICAMH) workforce development

as cited in Owens, 2010). The Hardiker model has four levels of intervention, described as follows:

**Level 1:** mainstream and universal services available to all children, e.g. health care, education, community services including services targeted to specific communities – cultural, disadvantaged groups etc.

**Level 2:** services to children who have some additional needs and are characterised by having a referral system and requiring parental consent, e.g. behavioural support, parenting support and programmes, additional educational services, and specific services where there are identified child needs.

**Level 3:** support for families or individual children and young people where there are chronic or serious problems, e.g, services and interventions that come through court recommendations, protection registers, etc.

**Level 4:** support for children and families where the family has broken down temporarily or permanently, and where the child or young person goes into the care of social services or youth justice custody.

Level of intervention Level 4 Intensive and Longterm Support and Protection for Children and Families Level 3 Therapeutic and Support Services for Children and Families with Severe Difficulties Level 2 Support and Therapeutic Intervention for Children and Families in Need Level 1 Universal Preventative and Social Development Services Population size

Figure 1: The Hardiker model of intervention frameworks

Note: Reproduced from Hardiker et al, 1991, as cited in Owens (2010), p.18.

## The two-generation (2Gen) model

Rather than framing programmes and services in relation to the level of risk that a child may face and seeing responses on a continuum from universal through to intensive specialist and longer-term support, the two-generation (2Gen) model instead frames child welfare services around the extent to which they are focused on the child, focused on the parent, or focused on the family as a whole (Ascend at the Aspen Institute, 2018). The developers advocate that more child welfare



programmes and services should address the needs of the whole family rather than choosing between those of the child or the parent. This approach is particularly applicable in Aotearoa New Zealand where the wellbeing of the child is both culturally and legally intrinsically linked to that of the whānau (Office of the Children's Commissioner, 2015). The 2Gen continuum nonetheless encourages service designers and providers to be much clearer about what they actually mean when they use terms such as *child-focused* or *parent-focused*.

Figure 2: Child-focused to parent-focused – the 2Gen continuum



Note: Reproduced from '2Gen approach' by Ascend at the Aspen Institute. Copyright 2018 by author.

## **Oranga Tamariki**

With the establishment of Oranga Tamariki in 2017 and as recommended by the Expert Panel on the Modernising of Child, Youth and Family (2015), the Oranga Tamariki high level operating model had a much strengthened focus on prevention and early intervention; the organisation's outcomes framework (Oranga Tamariki, 2018) reframed this as *early support*. In relation to tamariki Māori and their whānau, the new Section 7AA of the 1989 Act imposed specific new duties on the Oranga Tamariki Chief Executive in order to "recognise and provide a practical commitment to the principles of the Treaty of Waitangi (te Tiriti o Waitangi)". These include seeking to develop strategic partnerships with iwi and Māori organisations, including iwi authorities, in order to "agree on any action both or all parties consider is appropriate" (Oranga Tamariki Act, 1989, s7AA(c)(vi)). Such legislative requirement is understood to be the first time in the history of Aotearoa that *Te Tiriti o Waitangi* has been mentioned in legislation relating to children.

These developments have been given significantly more impetus with the recent publication of *Hipokingia ki te Kahu Aroha Hipokingia ki te Katoa* (Ministerial Advisory Board, 2021) and the associated Cabinet Paper and Oranga Tamariki Future Direction Action Plan. The government established the Ministerial Advisory Board in January 2021 to help reform Oranga Tamariki, as part of its response to widespread criticism of the attempted removal of a Māori newborn infant from a Hastings hospital in 2019 (Office of the Chief Ombudsman, 2021; Office of the Children's Commissioner, 2020a, 2020b, 2020c; Oranga Tamariki, 2019), as well as the subsequent and broader report by the Waitangi Tribunal (2021). Family Start is not now, nor has it ever been, an alternative to either Oranga Tamariki child protection services or other emergency or crisis help from organisations such as the Police or Women's Refuge (Oranga Tamariki, n.d.) and it does not appear to have been directly or indirectly implicated in any of these inquiries. However, the centrality of engaging and supporting *at risk* expectant and new parents who need extra



support and their babies in their communities generally, and particularly so in relation to Māori, and taking every possible step to avoid babies having to come into the care of the State, has perhaps never been higher.

In terms of the Ministerial Advisory Board's (2021) three overarching interim report recommendations, perhaps of most significance to Family Start is their first recommendation:

In order to lead prevention of harm to tamariki and their whānau, collective Māori and community responsibility and authority must be strengthened and restored in a way that is fit for purpose within a modern and future context. The Crown's role is to support this Kaupapa (p.9).

However, although perhaps to a lesser degree, the *Oranga Tamariki Future Direction Action Plan*'s focus on partnership and evidence (Oranga Tamariki, 2021), is also relevant to this evidence brief.



# Methodology

The primary information sources for this evidence brief were systematic reviews<sup>4</sup> and meta-analyses<sup>5</sup>. However, given the unusually large volume of published home visiting systematic reviews and meta-analyses, several overviews of (systematic) reviews<sup>6</sup> have also been included. Academic and professional journal articles, books, and book chapters were identified, selected and reviewed using EBSCO (information services journal database) and Google Scholar. Searches of the Campbell Collaboration and Cochrane Library online systematic reviews databases were also undertaken.

## Other data sources included the following:

- 1. EBSCO and Google Scholar were also used to search for individual research and literature reviews (i.e. not systematic reviews) of home visiting programmes or programme components, as well as some research studies on individual select programmes.
- 2. US Home Visiting Evidence of Effectiveness (HomVEE) reviews website (Department of Health and Human Services).
- 3. Select evidence-based websites:
  - California Evidence Based Clearing House for Child Welfare
  - · Blueprints, and
  - Investing in Children.
- 4. Grey literature, i.e. online government reports and select home visiting programme websites.
- 5. A limited amount of unpublished New Zealand material.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> "Overviews of Reviews...use explicit and systematic methods to search for and identify multiple systematic reviews on related research questions in the same topic area for the purpose of extracting and analysing their results across important outcomes. Thus, the unit of searching, inclusion and data analysis is the systematic review" (Higgins et al., 2021, section 1.5.2).



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> "A systematic review attempts to collate all empirical evidence that fits pre-specified eligibility criteria in order to answer a specific research question. It uses explicit, systematic methods that are selected with a view to minimizing bias, thus providing more reliable findings from which conclusions can be drawn and decisions made (Antman 1992, Oxman 1993). The key characteristics of a systematic review are: a clearly stated set of objectives with pre-defined eligibility criteria for studies; an explicit, reproducible methodology; a systematic search that attempts to identify all studies that would meet the eligibility criteria; an assessment of the validity of the findings of the included studies, for example through the assessment of risk of bias; and a systematic presentation, and synthesis, of the characteristics and findings of the included studies" (Higgins et al., 2021, section 1.2.2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> "Meta-analysis is the use of statistical methods to summarize the results of independent studies (Glass 1976). By combining information from all relevant studies, meta-analyses can provide more precise estimates of the effects of health care than those derived from the individual studies included within a review…They also facilitate investigations of the consistency of evidence across studies, and the exploration of differences across studies" (Higgins et al., 2021, section 1.2.2).

All research studies have their limitations, and this evidence brief is no exception:

- This is an evidence brief rather than a full literature review. As such it represents a good, but not necessarily a comprehensive, summary of existing literature.
- By definition the evidence brief is limited to findings from the large (evidenced-based) home visiting programme (research) literature, i.e. no interviews were undertaken with researchers or providers, no programme manuals were accessed for more detailed information beyond the Family Start one, little unpublished material was included, and randomised controlled trial groups aside, no comparisons were made between evidence-based home visiting programmes and other forms of parenting support services.
- For inclusion in systematic reviews and meta-analyses, article inclusion criteria usually require the use of an experimental research design, e.g. randomised-controlled trial. As such there is the potential that the characteristics and success factors of some other effective or theoretically more effective programmes are not included. Furthermore, systematic reviews and meta-analyses may 'mask' important differences across different programmes and have the effect of 'averaging out' the results from high and low scoring programmes.
- While a very limited number of book chapters available through EBSCO and Google Scholar and the grey literature have been included, most academic and professional books are not available through EBSCO or other academic journal databases.

While not methodological limitations per se, it is also worth noting that:

- Only two studies (McDonald, 2021; Paulsell et al., 2014) comparing the use of different home visiting programmes were identified and neither of these were empirical research.
- Beyond a synthesis of evidence on parenting programmes more generally that includes but is not limited to home visiting (Social Policy Evaluation and Research Unit, 2015), no Aotearoa New Zealand home visiting programme systematic reviews or meta-analyses were identified.



## **Findings**

## What are home visiting programmes?

Home visiting programmes are now in place in several countries including Australia, Bulgaria, Canada, Germany, Netherlands, Norway, Sweden, Switzerland and the United Kingdom<sup>7</sup> (Australian Nurse-Family Partnership Program, n.d.; Edvardsson et al., 2011; Enns et al. 2019; Howard & Brooks-Gunn, 2009; Kempe et al., 2018; Knoke, 2009; Leirbakk et al., 2018; Mejdoubi 2014, 2015; National [Canadian] Collaborating Centre for the Determinants of Health, 2009; Nguyen et al., 2018; Parents as Teachers, n.d.). However, while child protection systems across countries vary considerably (Gilbert et al., 2011; Parton, 2017) home visiting programmes are essentially a US construct and originally designed for the US context where there is little or no universal provision for expectant and new parents.

First developed in the 1980s, usually by university research centres and supported with randomised-controlled trials, today around 300,000 families are registered with a US home visiting programme. Home visiting programmes in the US were given impetus when the *Maternal, Infant, and Early Childhood Home Visiting (MIECHV)* programme was instigated by the Obama administration as part of its 2009/10 Affordable Care Act legislation (Center for Public Impact, 2016).

The US *Home Visiting Evidence of Effectiveness* website (Department of Health and Human Services, n.d.) recognises 21 different home visiting manualised programmes (aka Manualized Evidence-supported Treatments) as meeting their criteria for an evidence-based early childhood home visiting service delivery model for the purposes of accessing federal funding. The following are perhaps the four best-known ones (Duggan et al., 2018; Howard & Brooks-Gunn, 2009; MDRC, n.d.).

- Healthy Families America
- Nurse-Family Partnership
- Parent as Teachers aka Parents as First Teacher in the UK where it currently operates and Aotearoa New Zealand (Ministry of Social Development, 2011) where it previously operated, and
- Early Home Start (home-based option).

Definitions of home visiting programmes tend to be very broad. For example, the California Evidence-based Clearinghouse for Child Welfare (n.d.) offers the following definition:

...any home visiting programs with a goal to improve child well-being, including physical health, development, and school readiness. Home visiting is a mechanism to provide direct support and coordination of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Some programmes, for example the Nurse-Family Partnership, have been adapted differently across the countries that make up the United Kingdom.



Success factors for a home visiting programme

services for families which involves direct services to the family in the home setting. While services can also be received elsewhere, the home is the primary service delivery setting. Programs vary, but components may include 1) education in effective parenting and childcare techniques; 2) education on child development, health, safety, and nutrition; 3) assistance in gaining access to social support networks; and 4) assistance in obtaining education, employment, and access to community services.

This definition from the US Child Welfare Information Gateway (n.d.) is a little more specific:

Home visits are recognized as a cost-effective means of promoting infant and child health, preventing maltreatment, and improving family functioning. In home-based programs provide new and expectant parents with support to build their basic caregiving skills and assist parents and other primary caregivers in bonding with children to encourage healthy child development and a positive home environment. They address issues such as maternal and child health, positive parenting practices, safe home environments, and access to services (para. 1).

Because home visiting, as Howard and Brooks-Gunn (2009) argue, is a method of service delivery rather than a theoretical approach individual programmes can differ dramatically:

They vary with respect to the age of the child, the risk status of the family, the range of services offered, the intensity of the home visits, and the content of the curriculum that is used in the program. Furthermore, programs vary in terms of who provides services (typically nurses vs. paraprofessionals), how effectively the program is implemented, and the range of outcomes observed. What all share is the belief that services delivered in the home will have some sort of positive impact on families and that altering parenting practices can have measurable and long-term benefits for children's development (para. 3).



# How does Family Start compare with other mainstream home visiting programmes?

Beyond there being regular visits to expectant and/or new mothers or parents, home visiting programmes are remarkably diverse. Largely drawing upon the Family Start (Oranga Tamariki, 2022) theory of change diagram<sup>8</sup> and programme manual, and work by Howard and Brooks-Gunn (2009), the key features of Family Start, are identified as follows<sup>9</sup>:

- Developed for the Aotearoa New Zealand context as for example Early Start (rather than for the US, as for example the original Nurse-Family Partnership).
- Specifically targets parents or carers who are at risk, using detailed referral criteria which have some similarities with the screening tools used by Healthy Families America, Hawaii Health Start and Early Start (rather than serving broader populations such as low-income first-time mothers as with the Nurse-Family Partnership).
- Whilst taking prenatal referrals (unlike for example Hawaii Healthy Start Program, the Comprehensive Child Development Program, and the Infant Health and Development Program), most referrals and 'case activations' are postnatal (unlike for example the Family Nurse Partnership, Healthy Families America, and Early Headstart).
- Aims to improve a broad range of outcomes, i.e. health, education and social outcomes for children, parents' parenting capability and practice, and children's and parents' personal and family circumstances (rather than more specific outcomes such as reducing risk of child abuse/neglect as in the Queensland Study or improving maternal sensitivity as in the Netherlands study) (both cited in Brooks-Gunn, 2009).
- Developed and owned by a government department as for example Parent as Teachers and the Hawaii Healthy Start Program (rather than a university, as for example the Nurse-Family Partnership).
- Staffed by professionals as for example in the Nurse-Family Partnership and Early Start (rather than by paraprofessionals, for example Parents as Teachers and Healthy Families America).

**Core quality components (inputs/resources):** Qualified and professional Family Start workers, Quality Family Start worker - client relationships, Reflective clinical supervision, Effective data management and support, Community outreach and cross agency coordination, Adequate and sustained funding and Parent education.

Core service components (outputs/activities): Regular and ongoing home visits, Support parents' understanding of child development and positive parenting practice, Identification of issues impacting on health and wellbeing of the child (e.g. alcohol and drugs, family violence), Identification of social connections to community/whānau/hapu/iwi, Setting of specific, measurable, attainable, realistic, timely (SMART) goals to achieve families' aspirations.



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Central to the Family Start theory of change are 12 core quality and service components as below:

- Predominantly staffed by non-nursing professionals, (rather than those with nursing qualifications as in the Nurse-Family Partnership).
- A competency framework to guide the organisation's own training provision (rather than compulsory comprehensive programme training for all workers with the programme developer as with most mainstream programmes).
- A variable case load model approach with three levels of need-based visiting frequency (rather than frequency prescribed based on time on the programme as for example the Infant Health and Development Programme's weekly visits over the first 12 months and then biweekly).
- Flexible use of an online parenting resource tool as needed, rather than a
  prescribed curriculum as, for example, with the Nurse-Family Partnership.
- Grounded in theories of human ecology, self-efficacy, human attachment, strengths-based child-centred approach, partnership models and Tikanga Māori (Oranga Tamariki, 2022).
- Often used alongside other services such as antenatal care, Well Child, mental health services or counselling (rather than more standalone like many mainstream US programmes).
- Has never been the subject of randomised controlled trials although over the years, Family Start has been extensively researched and evaluated using a wide range of methodologies including comparator group analysis using a quasi-experimental trial approach (for example, the Nurse-Family Partnership and Early Start).

# What outcomes do home visiting programmes improve and for whom?

There is now a very large body of literature on whether home visiting programmes work, including many systematic reviews and meta-analyses. One systematic review (Paulsen & Avellar, 2011) revealed more than 10,000 citations on home visiting programmes.

From this literature, it is clear that home visiting programmes can and do *work*. However, they do not always work, nor to the degree expected (Duggan, 2012; Gubbels et al., 2021; Howard & Brooks-Gunn, 2019; Peacock et al., 2013; Supplee, 2016; Sweet & Appelbaum, 2004). As the systematic review undertaken by Filene and colleagues (2013) also put it: "Home visiting programs evidenced small but significant overall effects, with wide variability in the size of effects. Communities may need complementary or alternative strategies to home visiting programs" (Filene, 2013, S100).

Several other studies and systematic reviews have questioned the strength of the research evidence base to support existing home visiting programmes. *The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews'* infamous study *Home-based support for disadvantaged teenage mothers* (Macdonald et al., 2007), since withdrawn following a complaint by the developers and owners of the *Nurse-Family Partnership* model (Olds, 2007), found that while home visiting improved some outcomes, the evidence



overall provided only limited support for it as a means of improving the range of maternal and child outcomes. The same UK research team's companion systematic review *Home-based support for disadvantaged adult mothers*, also since withdrawn by Cochrane, was more definitive in finding no statistically significant differences for those receiving home visiting in comparison to control groups.

There are particular challenges around replicating and scaling up home visiting programmes (Paulsen & Avellar, 2011). Some caution also needs to be exercised in relation to the extent to which positive findings in home visiting from one country can be expected to successfully 'transplant' to another country's context (London Economics, 2008), and adapting home visiting models for use in other countries. For example, while an evaluation of an adapted Nurse-Family Partnership model in the Netherlands (Mejdoubi et al., 2014, 2015) found the model to be effective, the same was not the case with an English independent evaluation. Robling and colleagues' (2016) national randomised controlled trial of the Family-Nurse Partnership model (called the Family Nurse Partnership in England, FNP) concluded that "adding FNP to the usually provided health and social care provided no additional short-term benefit to our primary outcomes. Programme continuation is not justified on the basis of available evidence" (p.146). While there has been some methodological debate as to whether the evaluation's three selected outcome measures were the most appropriate or sufficient (for example, Barlow et al, 2016; Olds, 2015), this has led to some radical changes in the English model (as will be discussed later).

From the many primary and secondary research and evaluation studies, we can see that effects do vary across outcomes and subgroups (Molloy, 2021; van Assen et al., 2020). Typically, an 'effective' home visiting programme will meet a statistically significant threshold for an outcome, but not necessarily for more than one outcome (McDonald et al., 2012; Howard & Brook-Gunn, 2009). Furthermore some programmes demonstrate few if any positive outcomes at all.

The results of several meta-analyses suggest that home-visiting programs do have positive effects for participants, though those effects are often modest. Some studies, such as those testing the efficacy of the Nurse-Family Partnership program across several sites, have shown positive outcomes in multiple domains for both mothers and children, with some of these effects continuing into the adolescent years. Other studies, however, such as the Hawaii Healthy Start Program and similar Healthy Families America programs have had much more limited success. Still others, like Early Head Start, have shown modest effects at the end of the intervention, although follow-up data are not available (Howard & Brooks-Gunn, 2009, para 4).

The following table identifies whether major home visiting programmes have been deemed to be effective in relation to eight identified domains.



Table 2: Howard and Brooks-Gunn (2009) select programmes and domain effectiveness

Program <sup>10</sup>	Substan tiated child abuse & neglect	Parent- report child abuse & neglect	Child health & safety	Home environment	Parenting responsivity & sensitivity	Parenting harshness	Depression & parenting stress	Child cognition
NFP-Elmira	Yes		Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No	Mixed
NFP- Memphis			Yes	No	Mixed		No	Mixed
NFP-Denver				Yes	Yes		No	Mixed
Hawaii Healthy Start	No	No	No	No	No		Mixed	No
HFA-San Diego		Yes	No	No	No	Yes	Mixed	Mixed
HFA-Alaska	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Mixed	Mixed	Yes
HFA-New York	No	Yes	No			Yes	Mixed	
Early Headstart			Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
IHDP				Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
CCDP			No	No	No	No	No	Mixed
Early Start	No	Yes	Yes		Yes	Yes	No	
Queensland programme			No	Yes	Yes		Mixed	
Netherlands programme					Yes		No	

Note: Adapted from 'The role of home-visiting programs in preventing child abuse and neglect' by K Howard & J. Brooks-Gunn, 2009. Copyright 2009 by Children and Youth Care.

Three particular aspects of the table are worth mentioning:

- The contrast between some of the programmes is rather marked, for example the Hawaii Healthy Start Program with no effective domains and Early Headstart with six.
- The contrast across some of the domains is also notable in that some appear to be well-evidenced and others not so much.
- Only one trial of one programme, the (1986) Nurse-Family Partnership randomized trial in Elmira New York, is shown to have improved outcomes in relation to the substantiation of child abuse and neglect; in a new systematic review Gubbels and colleagues (2021) conclude from their systematic review and meta-analysis that:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Abbreviations in table: NFP (Nurse-Family Partnership); HFA (Healthy Families America (HFA); Infant Health and Development Program (IHDP); and Comprehensive Child Development Program (CCDP).



Success factors for a home visiting programme

home visiting programs can prevent child maltreatment only to a small extent. Larger effects were found when programs focused on improving parental expectations of the child or parenthood, and when programs focused on improving parental responsiveness or sensitivity to a child's needs (p. 1).

One of the challenges with the home visiting literature is that evaluations of programmes rarely collect detailed information on the services provided to families, and as such, "it is difficult to know whether impacts on particular outcomes are associated with implementation or with features of the home visiting model" (Duggan et al., p.iii).

As well as average outcomes, effects may also vary across different subgroups (Peacock et al., 2013); overall outcomes for an individual programme will therefore also be impacted by the particular cohort.

# Why are home visiting programmes not more successful?

Many home visiting programmes have struggled to maintain their apparent effectiveness when replicated and scaled up (Paulsell & Avellar, 2011; Paulsell et al., 2014). In the Paulsell & Avellar (2011) study on the challenges of replicating, implementing, scaling up, and sustaining home visiting programmes, the authors investigated the effects of the *Supporting Evidence-Based Home Visiting to Prevent Child Maltreatment* initiative. The programme funded organisations to design and implement programmes by selecting from five pre-determined evidence-based home visiting models. Those in the study successfully met a number of fidelity standards. They were usually successful at "hiring and training appropriate staff, obtaining appropriate referrals, delivering most of the planned visits, and covering the planned content during the home visits" (p. 23). However, many struggled to maintain consistent contact with families at the level of intensity required by the various home visiting models, i.e. they sometimes struggled to provide participating families with the correct 'dosage' of contact for the home visiting model(s) they had chosen; they also struggled to retain participating families.

While there could be a plethora of reasons explaining why an individual home visiting programme is not successful, meeting programme visit frequency requirements, as well as programme retention, regularly feature across the literature. Chiang and colleagues (2018) estimate that most home visiting studies show attrition rates ranging from 30% to 70%. There is also some evidence that those most at risk, as variously defined, are more likely to leave a programme. In their study of retention and attrition in a *Teacher First* home visiting programme in Alabama, Fifolt and colleagues (2017) found that "participants who were pregnant and under the age of 21 years were nearly eight times more likely to leave the programme than their peers" (p.1782).

Improving our understanding of attrition is therefore key to advancing work in home visitation (Ammerman, 2016; Chiang et al., 2018). Related to this is the issue of initial programme take-up, for example the Social Policy Evaluation and Research



Unit (2015) found in their review that only one-third of invited families enrolled on parenting programmes (including home visiting ones).

While an individual exercising agency by not taking up a home visting programme, not making themselves available for all (required) visits or leaving a programme early may sometimes be entirely appropriate, identifying, attracting and retaining target families is absolutely fundamental to any understanding of programme success factors.

Furthermore, Duggan makes the point that despite there being substantial literature that has generated evidence on home visiting impacts on family functioning, parenting, and child outcomes, many gaps in our knowledge about home visiting programmes still exist, including information about program implementation (Duggan et al., 2018, p.iii).

# Where programmes are effective, what are their success factors?

We cannot fully answer this question from the literature. Certainly effective home visiting programmes appear, to varying degrees, to have some characteristics is common. From an Aotearoa New Zealand perspective on parenting programmes more generally, the Social Policy Evaluation and Research Unit (2015) found from their synthesis that:

Effective programmes tend to focus on positive problem-solving approaches, have a clear theoretical framework, be manualised and professionally supervised, and to have been robustly evaluated. Awareness of these characteristics can inform the design, development, monitoring and continuous improvement of new and existing programmes.

However beyond this, as Howard and Brooks-Gunn (2009) state: "The wide variability in programs makes it difficult to draw solid conclusions about the [particular] conditions under which home visiting is most effective" (Howard & Brooks-Gunn, 2009, para 4). In a very recent meta-analysis, Gubbels and colleagues (2021) similarly concluded that "home visiting programs are widely endorsed for preventing child maltreatment. Yet, knowledge is lacking on what and how individual program components are related to the effectiveness of these programs".

In their systematic review on home visiting possible success factors, McDonald and colleagues (2012), identified 20 possible components from the literature and then assessed the strength of the evidence in relation to each. These are shown in the following table.



Table 3: 20 home visiting programme components

PROCESS	CONTENT	WORKFORCE
Number of Visits	Parenting	Home Visitor Qualifications
Age Commencing/Finishing	Parent Health	Home Visitor Competencies
Antenatal vs Postnatal Recruitment	Child Health and Development	Caseload
Eligibility Criteria	Addressing Background Factors	Clinical Supervision
Use of Quality Improvement	Summary of Content Delivery Mechanisms	Training and Coaching
Use of ICT	Approaches to Delivering Content	
Implementation Science/Evaluation Principles		
Service Coordination		
Maintaining Engagement With Itinerant Families		

Note: Adapted from 'The Sustained nurse home visiting for families and children: A review of effective programs' by M. McDonald, T Moore, & S. Goldfeld, 2012, pp.16-52. Copyright 2012 by The Royal Children's Hospital Centre for Community Child Health, Murdoch Children's Research Institute.

However, there was strong evidence to support only one of these components, that being antenatal versus postnatal recruitment, i.e. recruiting programme participants before they had given birth was a success factor. Otherwise the review was unable to identify any other characteristics that appeared to 'make the difference' in terms of effectiveness. Similarly, Filene et al. (2013) and Peacock et al. (2013) found no overall success factors that were not outcomes-specific either.

McDonald and colleagues (2012), concluded that the findings of their review showed: "(a) the evidence regarding the 'components' of home visiting programs is contradictory or contested or (b) the evidence is not available" (p.51).

Taking a different approach, Gubbels and colleagues (2021) reviewed the evidence in relation to 32 potential programme components, with a particular focus on child maltreatment. Their findings on strongly evidenced programme components, were similarly inconclusive, including for prenatal or postnatal recruitment:

None of the coded contextual factors (i.e., the specific individual program, age of the child, whether the program starts prenatally or postnatally, whether or not telephonic consultation was provided, and whether or not all family members were targeted) or structural elements (i.e., the type of home visiting professional, whether or not home visitors received training, whether or not home visitors were matched to families, whether or not a curriculum was used, program duration, average number of home visits, average duration of home visits, and home visit intensity) significantly moderated the overall effect of home visiting programs.



However, in another new systematic review specifically focusing on sustained nurse home visiting programmes (Beatson et al., 2021), the authors found seven, albeit largely broader, core components or potential 'active ingredients' that have demonstrated positive effects on maternal or child health, psychosocial development, or self-sufficiency outcomes among disadvantaged families as follows:

Comparison of the seven eligible programs showed seven common core components: antenatal commencement, support to child age 2 years, at least 19 scheduled visits and experienced or highly qualified nurses with program-specific training, caseloads of approximately 25 families, regular supervision, and multidisciplinary supports. Outcomespecific program content was generally not well reported.

# What other potential success factors have at least some supporting evidence?

Using the headings from McDonald and colleagues' (2012) in Table 3, and incorporating findings from Beatson et al. (2021), McDonald et al. (2012) and Gubbels et al. (2021), the following are identified as potential success factors:

#### **Process**

- Antenatal recruitment (Beatson et al., 2021; McDonald et al., 2012).
- Targeting families who are at risk and/or have multiple or complex problems (although there is some evidence that high-risk families may not benefit as greatly as moderately at risk-families) (McDonald et al., 2012).
- A greater number (Beatson et al., 2021) and frequency (Nievar et al., 2010) of visits, over a longer period of time (although for some specific outcomes less intensive approaches may be effective) (McDonald et al., 2012). Both Peacock et al. (2013) and Supplee (2016) particularly emphasise the need for more research on the optimal number and length of visits, given that some programmes only require three visits while others may continue for multiple years.
- Ensure that any chosen home visiting model (and particularly one that does not allow for adaptations) aligns with community needs and goals (Osbourne, 2016; Supplee, 2016); context matters (Osbourne, 2016).
- An approach of cultural and ethnic sensitivity to home-visit programmes seems to work well for families with an ethnic minority status (and by extension possibly Indigenous people status) (Gubbels, 2021).
- Incorporation of motivational interviewing (Biggs et al., 2018) and potentially other evidence-based individual practices (Chorpita et al., 2007; Embrey & Biglans, 2008; Shlonsky & Benbenishty, 2014).

#### Content

• Focusing on improving realistic expectations with and of parents regarding their child and/or parenthood (Gubbels, 2021; Osbourne, 2016).



- Focusing on parental responsiveness and sensitivity to cues of the child (Filene et al., 2013; Gubbels, 2021; Howard & Brooks-Gunn, 2009).
- More parenting programme components (Gubbels, 2021) including teaching discipline and behaviour management techniques as well as problem-solving (Filene et al., 2013).
- Using video-recordings of parent-child interactions (Gubbels, 2021).
- Fidelity is important, but so is innovation (Osbourne, 2016).

#### Workforce

- Quality of the helping relationship (Fifolt, 2017; Sierau et al., 2016): Highly experienced or qualified nurses with programme-specific training (Beatson, et al., 2021), and if targeting families with multiple and complex problems, employing an appropriately skilled and experienced workforce (McDonald et al., 2012).
- Define expectations of home visitors more precisely (McDonald et al., 2012).
- A caseload of about 25 families, regular supervision and multidisciplinary support (Beatson et al., 2021).
- Build implementation systems that support home visitors in how to:
  - Increase family engagement and programme retention through gaining a better understanding of the influence of the both the worker's and the mother's individual attachment style (high or low anxiety, and high or low avoidance) and the impacts upon the effectiveness of their relationship (Duggan, 2012; McFarlane et al., 2010, Peacock et al., 2013).
  - Raise sensitive topics effectively, build mothers' readiness to address these topics, empower them to take action and affirm their successes (McDonald et al., 2012).
  - Introduce individual family support plans to families and how to help families articulate their goals (Duggan, 2012).
- Go beyond linking families with other services, and collaborate with other service providers (where appropriate to do so) (Duggan, 2012).

## Internationally, what is the direction of travel?

## Revisiting fidelity and the rise of implementation science

The conventional wisdom has long been that 'evidence-based' home visiting programmes will work if they are implemented with high levels of fidelity, i.e. "the extent to which delivery of an intervention adheres to the protocol or programme model originally developed" (Mowbray et al., 2003, p.315). While there are calls for greater attention to programme fidelity (Ammerman, 2016), the research is increasingly reflecting a broader concept of programme fidelity that goes beyond inputs such as staffing requirements, visiting schedules, curriculum, and professional tools, and seeks to better address programme reach, engagement, and retention. As



discussed previously, this is being reflected in a strengthened focus on replication, scaling up, and sustainability (Durlak & DuPre, 2008; Mathematica, 2014; Paulsell & Avellar, 2011; Paulsell et al., 2014).

Duggan (2012) argues that to better understand our current and future home visiting outcomes, we need to better understand how our programmes and wider systems are meant to work and operate in practice:

Most published studies of home visiting focused on outcomes rather than looking at actual service delivery, which can strongly impact family outcomes. In contrast, our work looks at how services are delivered to families, and the possible reasons for unintended variation in service delivery. We do this by using 1) an implementation science conceptual model—that is, a roadmap leading from the program's service model to its desired family outcomes—that considers both organization- and individual-level factors, and 2) behavioral theories, such as attachment theory, to better understand how services are delivered (para 4).

As such, Duggan (2012) proposes the following as her home visiting roadmap to service delivery conceptual model.

**OUTPUTS OUTCOMES INPUTS** ACTUAL PARENTS\*\* SERVICE MODEL **FAMILIES\*** SERVICES Family Theory of Change Functioning Dosage Intended Parenting Outcomes, Recipients, Services, Content STAFF\* Behavior and Staffing Quality In relation to INFLUENTIAL ORGANIZATIONS Service IMPLEMENTATION Model Developer Model SYSTEM Implementing Agency = Fidelity CHILDREN Staff Development **Funders** Health and **Clinical Supports Community Resources** Development Administrative Supports **Regulating Organizations** Systems Interventions **Professional Organizations** 

Figure 3: Duggan's home visiting roadmap to service delivery conceptual model

Note: Reproduced from 'Service is everything: How home visiting service delivery impacts family outcomes'. Copyright 2012 by Harvard Family Research Project.

On the basis of their meta-analysis, Segal and colleagues (2012) also recommend the rigorous use of a logic model approach to ensure strong alignment across



<sup>\*</sup> For both families and staff, key attributes include Demographics; Psychosocial Wellbeing; Cognitive Capacity; and Attitudes, Perceived Norms, Personal Agency, Knowledge, and Skills regarding Expected Behaviors.

\*\*This diagram illustrates the model for a programme that improves outcomes for the child indirectly, through direct benefits for parents. The diagram could also be altered to show direct benefits for the child (e.g., to represent an early intervention programme that provides direct services to the child).

objectives, theory of change, target population, and programme components; they found that where that was the case, programme outcomes were more likely. While in some respects Duggan's (2012) model is similar to many other logic models and theories of change, including the diagram for Family Start, this has three particularly significant elements.

- There is a clear focus on dosage, content and quality, through the actual service that is delivered, being what transforms inputs into desired outcomes
- It recognises that neither families nor staff are homogeneous groups, and
- The changing context and the important or critical role of influential organisations is also captured.

In another development with implications for both implementation and fidelity, there has also been a growing recognition of the importance of community engagement in determining needs and aspirations, in the choice of any particular home visiting model (for example, Mattox et al., 2013); in Aotearoa New Zealand the Social Policy Evaluation and Research Unit (2015) made a similar point in relation to parenting programmes more generally.

## Greater programme flexibility and adaptability

Some home visiting models specify rigid implementation, with a highly specified visiting schedule and the use of a specific curriculum, and specified tools and target outcomes, while others are more flexible (Supplee, 2016). While not necessarily mutually exclusive, as some programmes are looking to strengthen fidelity, there is increasing recognition of the value of programme flexibility and adaptability in order to meet particular needs and circumstances (Social Policy Evaluation and Research Unit, 2015).

This has perhaps been most apparent in the expansion of the Nurse-Family Partnership internationally. For example, the Australian Nurse-Family Partnership Program has been particularly adapted for the Australian context; it is only available for children who are Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islanders, and includes an additional Aboriginal Family Partnership Worker role in all home visiting teams. The Family Partnership Worker works in partnership with the Nurse Home Visitor (NHV) (Australian Nurse-Family Partnership Program, n.d.; Molly Wardaguga Research Centre, n.d.).

In England, there have also been significant adaptions. The Family-Nurse Partnership (as it is called in the UK) has co-developed and incorporated an assessment tool called the *New Mum Star* (Outcomes Star, 2018). While Outcome Stars are widely used in the UK across a range of groups including new mothers, this assessment tool was specifically designed for young first-time mums and spans pregnancy and the first 1-2 years after birth. Organised around nine topics (the points of a star), the tool helps mothers to see whether they are 'stuck', 'starting to engage', 'trying to engage', 'finding what works' or have achieved 'self-reliance'. While building a shared understanding of needs and aspirations, the tool is also used to make decisions with the mother on programme adaptations. As well as 'flexing content' to better meet needs and aspirations, other forms of programme



personalisation used are 'dialing up or down' the frequency and intensity of visits (i.e. dosage), and the possibility of early graduation (Family Nurse Partnership National Unit & Dartington Service Design Lab, 2020).

Supplee (2016) notes "there is currently little research on the extent to which giving implementation agencies the ability to be flexible and tailor their programs is related to greater impact for families" (para 6). In particular, it is worth noting that neither the Australian Nurse-Family Partnership Program nor the recently redeveloped English Family Nurse Partnership models appear to have yet been externally evaluated. However, it is interesting to note that in an attempt to increase retention, the developers of the Nurse-Family Partnership in the US have also made some changes to enable the programme to be delivered in more flexible and adaptable ways. This from David Olds, Nurse-Family Partnership Programme Founder and Professor of Paediatrics:

The FNP programme has been designed from the very first trial in Elmira, New York [Olds et al., 1986] to be adapted to individual families on a visit-to-visit basis. We failed to embody this principle in a sufficiently thorough way, however, in programme design, nurse education and US replication — a shortcoming carried over in our guidance to those responsible for creating nurse education outside of the US (and that we have since worked hard to correct) (Family Nurse Partnership National Unit & Dartington Service Design Lab, 2020, p.5).

## Increased focus on social and emotional wellbeing and the effects of trauma

Mental health issues, trauma, and partner violence are often prevalent in families served by home visiting programmes. Where programmes have not been designed with this in mind, programme effectiveness can and will be compromised (Cairone et al., 2017; National Home Visiting Resource Center, 2020). The former *National Center for Healthy Safe Children*. (n.d.) in the US developed *Project LAUNCH*, that aimed to integrate mental health supports into existing home visiting programmes. A federal initiative funded by the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA), key features were:

- Training home visitors on social and emotional wellbeing and behavioural health of young children and families
- Integration of social-emotional and behavioural health screening into home visiting programmes
- Provision of reflective supervision and case consultation for home visiting staff
- Brief intervention, including mental health consultation and crisis intervention, prior to a warm handoff for additional services and supports
- Increased coordination and information sharing across home visiting programmes.



As such, Project LAUNCH had the stated aim of enhancing, rather than duplicating, the efforts and effectiveness of existing home visiting programmes.

Taking a broader trauma perspective, a recent research brief from the US National Home Visiting Resource Center (Morrison et al., 2020) entitled *Implementing Trauma-Informed Approaches in Home Visiting* and drawing on the home visiting and wider literature (for example, Cairone et al., 2017; Mersky & Janczewski, 2018), argues for the adoption of more trauma-informed approaches in home visiting programmes:

Home visiting participants typically face more adverse experiences, such as abuse, food and housing insecurity, or exposure to violence, than their counterparts. Yet many families—and even members of the same family—process negative events differently, with only some perceiving them as traumatic (p.1).

The authors recommend that organisations train home visiting staff on the prevalence, causes, and consequences of trauma, implementing trauma screening, and strengthen service coordination.

# Beyond individual programmes: Components of a successful home visiting system

Many or most US states fund several different home visiting programmes. Focusing on home visiting system infrastructure rather than individual programmes, the US Center for Healthy Safe Children (2010) developed a home visiting system self-assessment and planning tool to help states to "replicate high-quality programs and maintain model fidelity. Strong and collaborative home visiting state systems provide the infrastructure to support these important decisions" (p.1). This collaborative tool, which has relevance to the Family Start context, helps states to identify and strengthen the key components of their state-wide home visiting systems. The individual self-assessment components are identified as:

- Needs assessment and programme planning
- Evaluation and quality assurance
- Programme standards
- Professional development and technical assistance
- Early childhood partnerships and collaboration
- Public engagement
- Administration and governance
- Financing and sustainability
- State-specific considerations.



## Growth in home visiting programmes for Indigenous people

Over recent years there has been a growth in home visiting programmes for Indigenous people in both the US and Australia. For example:

- Family Spirit is a US home visiting programme developed by Indigenous people for Indigenous people.
- The Nurse-Family Partnership Australia is a mainstream US home visiting programme with major adaptations designed specifically for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people in Australia.
- Parents as Teachers Tribal Maternal Home Visiting is a mainstream US home visiting programme applied (in particular their curriculum) in a range of different ways by and with Indigenous people.

None of these programmes were originally developed by government and only the Australian Nurse-Family Partnership Program is managed by a government department. Family Spirit was specifically developed by and for Indigenous People. Indigenous academics and researchers have a critical role to play in relation to both Family Spirit and the Australian Nurse-Family Partnership Program, through the John Hopkins University Center for American Indian Health and the Charles Darwin University Molly Wardaguga Research Centre respectively. Beyond indigeneity, neither Family Spirit nor the Australian Nurse-Family Partnership model specifically target families at risk. Family Spirit, the Australian Nurse-Family Partnership and Parents as Teachers Tribal Maternal Home Visiting all incorporate Indigenous teachings (see the companion report on Indigenous case studies for more on these programmes).



## Conclusion

Comparatively, home visiting programmes have been subject to more research than perhaps any other form of child welfare provision, yet the primary focus of this literature over the last 40 years has been on whether home visiting works. It tells us considerably less about second order questions such as why programmes may work, who they may work for and in what circumstances, and how barriers may be overcome. Furthermore, while most but not all systematic reviews and meta-analyses have deemed home visiting programmes to be effective, results have tended to be modest. In part this is because all home visiting programmes are in their own way unique, with different aims, participants, processes, content, and workforces (and increasingly different countries). Many home visiting programmes have also faced challenges around replication, scaling up, and sustainability, particularly so in relation to attracting, recruiting and retaining families.

A number of possible success factors are identified, for example, high visit frequency, aligning programme with community needs and wishes, and the quality of the helping relationship. However, only one factor is strongly supported by the research evidence, i.e. that antenatal participant recruitment is preferable over postnatal recruitment.

However, much of this literature remains focused on whether home visiting works. Along with the challenges around replication, scaling up, participant attrition, and sustainability, there is much that we still do not know, and there are some limitations on the application of learning from contexts that are very different to our own.



## References

- Allen+Clarke & Oranga Tamariki. (2021a). Evaluation of the Family Start programme: Report on findings of the impact evaluation. Oranga Tamariki—Ministry for Children. <a href="https://www.orangatamariki.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/About-us/Research/Latest-research/Evaluation-of-the-Family-Start-Impact-Evaluation-Report.pdf">https://www.orangatamariki.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/About-us/Research/Latest-research/Evaluation-of-the-Family-Start-Impact-Evaluation-Report.pdf</a>
- Allen+Clarke & Oranga Tamariki. (2021b). Evaluation of the Family Start programme: Synthesis of process and impact evaluations. Oranga Tamariki—Ministry for Children. <a href="www.orangatamariki.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/About-us/Research/Latest-research/Evaluation-of-the-Family-Start-programme/Family-Start-Evaluation-Synthesis-Report.pdf">www.orangatamariki.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/About-us/Research/Latest-research/Evaluation-of-the-Family-Start-programme/Family-Start-Evaluation-Synthesis-Report.pdf</a>
- Ammerman R. T. (2016). Commentary: Toward the Next Generation of Home Visiting Programs—New Developments and Promising Directions, Current Problems. *Pediatric and Adolescent Health Care*. *46*(4),126–9.
- Ascend at the Aspen Institute. (2018). 2Gen approach [webpage]. Author. ascend.aspeninstitute.org/two-generation/what-is-2gen/#
- Australian Nurse-Family Partnership Program. (n.d.). *About the ANFPP* [webpage]. www.anfpp.com.au/
- Barlow, J., Barnes, J., Sylva, K., Fonagy, P., Barlow, P. (2016). Questioning the outcome of the Building Blocks trial [Correspondence]. *The Lancet*, 387, 1615–1616. www.thelancet.com/action/showPdf?pii=S0140-6736%2816%2930201-X
- Beatson, R., Molloy, C., Perini, N., Harrop, C., Goldfeld, S. (2021). Systematic review: An exploration of core componentry characterizing effective sustained nurse home visiting programs. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 77(6), 2581–2594. doi:10.1111/jan.14755
- Bennett, C., Macdonald, G., Dennis, J., Coren, E., Patterson, J., Astin, M., & Abbott, J. (2007). Home-based support for disadvantaged adult mothers [withdrawn]. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, 3.* CD003759.
- Biggs, J., Sprague-Jones, J., Garstka, T., & Richardson, D. (2018). Brief motivational interviewing training for home visitors: Results for caregiver retention and referral engagement. *Children and Youth Services Review, 94*(3), 56–64. doi:10.1016/j.childyouth.2018.09.021
- Cairone, K., Rudick, S., & McAuley, E. (2017). *Home visiting issues and insights: Creating a trauma-informed home visiting program:* Maternal and Child Health Bureau, Health Resources and Services Administration.

  <a href="https://nhvrc.org/wp-content/uploads/NHVRC-Brief-050720-FINAL.pdf">nhvrc.org/wp-content/uploads/NHVRC-Brief-050720-FINAL.pdf</a>



- Center for Public Impact. (2016). The Maternal, Infant, and Early Childhood Home Visiting (MIECHV) programme in the US. www.centreforpublicimpact.org/case-study/home-visiting-in-the-us
- Chiang, C. J., Jonson-Reid, M., Kim, H., Drake, B., Pons, L., Kohl, P., Constantino, J., & Auslander, W. (2018). Service engagement and retention: Lessons from the Early Childhood Connections program. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 88, 114–127. doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2018.02.028
- Child Welfare Information Gateway. (n.d.). *Home visiting programs* [webpage]. www.childwelfare.gov/topics/preventing/prevention-programs/homevisit/homevisitprog/
- Childhood Begins at Home. (n.d.). Forward thinking: Diversifying funding to grow and sustain evidence-based home visiting in Pennsylvania.

  www.childhoodbeginsathome.org/wp-content/uploads/PPC-Home-Visiting-Report-September-2021.pdf
- Chorpita, B. F., Becker, K. D., & Daleiden, E. I. (2007). Understanding the common elements of evidence-based practice. Misconceptions and clinical examples. *Journal of the Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 46(5), 647–652.
- Cribb, J. (2009). *Review of Family Start and Early Start*. Wellington, New Zealand: Ministry of Social Development.
- Davies, L. & Roberts, T. (2013). *Improving alignment of Family Start and Well Child Tamariki Ora Services: Final report to the Ministry of Health*. <a href="https://www.health.govt.nz/system/files/documents/publications/improving-alignmentof-family-start-well-child-tamariki-ora-services-sept13.pdf">www.health.govt.nz/system/files/documents/publications/improving-alignmentof-family-start-well-child-tamariki-ora-services-sept13.pdf</a>
- Duggan, A. (2012). Service is everything: How home visiting service delivery impacts family outcomes. *Family Involvement Network of Educators (FINE) newsletter,* 4(1). Harvard Family Research Project. <u>archive.globalfrp.org/family-involvement/publications-resources/service-is-everything-how-home-visiting-service-delivery-impacts-family-outcomes</u>
- Duggan, A., McFarlane, E., Fuddy, L., Burrell, L., Higman, S., Windham, A., & Sia, C. (2004). Randomized trial of a statewide home visiting program: Impact in preventing child abuse and neglect. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *28*(6), 597–622. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2003.08.007
- Duggan, A., McFarlane, E., Windham, A., Rohde, C., Salkever, D., Fuddy, L., Rosenberg, L., Buchbinder, S. & Sia, C. (1999). Evaluation of Hawaii's Healthy Start program. *Future Child*, *9*(1), 66–90.

  www.academia.edu/28703449/Evaluation of Hawaiis Healthy Start Program?a uto=citations&from=cover\_page
- Duggan, A., Portilla, X., Filene, J., Crowne, S., Hill, C., Lee, H. & Knox, V. (2018). Implementation of evidence-based early childhood home visiting: Results from the Mother and Infant Home Visiting Program evaluation (OPRE Report 2018-76A). Washington, DC: US Department of Health and Human Services.



- <u>www.mdrc.org/sites/default/files/mihope\_implementation\_report\_2018\_10\_26\_50\_8b.pdf</u>
- Durlak, J., & DuPre, E. (2008). Implementation matters: A review of research on the influence of implementation on program outcomes and the factors affecting implementation. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, *41*, 327–350.
- Early Start Project. (2019). About us what we do. www.earlystart.co.nz/what-we-do/
- Early Intervention Foundation. (n.d.). What is early intervention [webpage]. www.eif.org.uk/why-it-matters/what-is-early-intervention
- Education Review Office. (2018). *Teen Education Units*. ero.govt.nz/sites/default/files/2021-05/Teen-Parent-Unit.pdf
- Edvardsson, K., Garvare, R., Ivarsson, A., Eurenius, E., Mogren, I., & Nyström, M. E. (2011). Sustainable practice change: Professionals' experiences with a multisectoral child health promotion programme in Sweden. *BMC Health Services Research*, *11*(61). <a href="https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3077331/">www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3077331/</a>
- Embrey, D. D., & Biglans, A. (2008). Evidence-based kernels: Fundamental units of behavioural influence. *Clinical Child & Family Psychology Review, 11*, 75–113.
- Enns, J., Chartier, M., Nickel, N., Chateau, D., Campbell, R., Phillips-Beck, W., Sarkar, J., Burland, E., Lee, J., Katz, A., Santos, R., & Brownell, M. (2019). Association between participation in the Families First Home Visiting programme and First Nations families' public health outcomes in Manitoba, Canada: A retrospective cohort study using linked administrative data. *BMJ Open 9*, e030386. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2019-030386
- Family Nurse Partnership National Unit & Dartington Service Design Lab (2020). FNP ADAPT: Using evidence, pragmatism and collaboration to change the FNP programme in England. London: England: Family Nurse Partnership National Unit. www.fnp.nhs.uk/media/1359/fnp adapt report web.pdf
- Fergusson, D., Boden, J., & Horwood, J. (2012). *Early Start evaluation report: Nine year follow up.* www.msd.govt.nz/documents/about-msd-and-our-work/publications-resources/evaluation/early-start-evaluation-report-nine-year-follow-up.pdf
- Fergusson, D., Boden, J., Horwood, J., & Grant, H. (2005). *Early Start evaluation report*. www.msd.govt.nz/documents/about-msd-and-ourwork/publications-resources/evaluation/early-start-evaluation-report.pdf
- Fielding, K. (2011). Research to inform improvements to increase Family Start effectiveness in preventing child maltreatment and promoting child development. Unpublished report prepared for the Ministry of Social Development Centre for Social Research and Evaluation.



- Fifolt, M., Lanzi, R., Johns, E., Strichik, T. & Preskitt, J. (2017). Retention and attrition in a home visiting programme: Looking back and moving forward. *Early Child Development and Care*, *187*(11), 1782–1794.
- Filene, J. H., Kaminski, J. W., Valle, L. A., & Cachat, P. (2013). Components associated with home visiting program outcomes: a meta-analysis. *Pediatrics*, *132 Suppl 2*(0 2), S100–S109. doi.org/10.1542/peds.2013-1021H
- Gilbert, N., Parton, N. & Skivenes, M. (2011). *Child protection system: International trends and orientations.* New York, NY: Oxford University.
- Gubbels, J., van der Put, C., Stams, G-J., Prinzie, P., & Assink, M. (2021). Components associated with the effect of home visiting programs on child maltreatment: A meta-analytic review. *Child Abuse & Neglect, 114*, 104981. doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2021.104981.
- Higgins J., Thomas J., Chandler J., Cumpston M., Li T., Page M., & Welch, V. (Eds.) (2021). *Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of interventions* version 6.2 (updated February 2021). Cochrane. <a href="www.training.cochrane.org/handbook">www.training.cochrane.org/handbook</a>
- Home Visiting Evidence of Effectiveness. (2021). Early childhood home visiting models: Reviewing evidence of effectiveness (OPRE Report #2021-185) <a href="https://doi.org/10.2011/nowvee.acf.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/2021-09/HomVEE Summary Brief Sept2021 0.pdf">https://doi.org/10.2011/nowvee.acf.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/2021-09/HomVEE Summary Brief Sept2021 0.pdf</a>
- Howard, K. & Brooks-Gunn, J. (2009). The role of home-visiting programs in preventing child abuse and neglect. *Children and Youth Care, 129*. cyc-net.org/cyc-online/cyconline-oct2009-howard.html
- Jack, S., Catherine, N., Gonzalez, A., MacMillan, H., Sheehan, D., Waddell, D., & British Columbia Healthy Connections Project Scientific Team (2015). Adapting, piloting and evaluating complex public health interventions: Lessons learned from the Nurse-Family Partnership in Canadian public health settings. *Health Promotion and Chronic Disease Prevention in Canada*, 35(8-9), 151–159. doi.org/10.24095/hpcdp.35.8/9.07
- Kempe, L., Grace, R., Comino, E., Pulver, L., McMahon, C., Harris, E., Harris, M., George, A., & Mack, H. (2018). The effectiveness of a sustained nurse home visiting intervention for Aboriginal infants compared with non-Aboriginal infants and with Aboriginal infants receiving usual child health care: A quasi-experimental trial the Bulundidi Gudaga study. *BMC Health Services Research* 18, 599. doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-3394-1
- Knoke, D. (2009). Early childhood home visiting programs. [Canadian] Centres of Excellence for Children's Well-being Information, 73e. <a href="https://cwmp.ca/sites/default/files/publications/HomeVisiting73E.pdf">cwmp.ca/sites/default/files/publications/HomeVisiting73E.pdf</a>
- Leirbakk, M. J., Torper, J., Engebretsen, E., Opsahl, J. N., Zeanah, P., & Magnus, J. H. (2018). Formative research in the development of a salutogenic early intervention home visiting program integrated in public child health service in a



- multiethnic population in Norway. *BMC Health Services Research*, *18*(1), 741. doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-3544-5
- Lewandowski, C. (2018). Child welfare: An integrative perspective. Oxford University.
- London Economics (2008). Cost benefit analysis of interventions with parents: Research report (DCSF-RW008). London, England: Department for Children, Schools and Families. core.ac.uk/download/pdf/4156204.pdf
- Mattox, T., Hunter, S., Kilburn, M., & Wiseman, S. (2013). How to develop home visiting programs: A guide for communities (research brief). Rand Corporation. www.rand.org/pubs/research briefs/RB9741.html
- Macdonald, G., Bennett, C., Dennis, J., Coren, E., Patterson, J., Astin, M., & Abbott, J. (2007). Home-based support for disadvantaged teenage mothers [withdrawn]. *Cochrane Database Systematic Reviews*, 3, CD006723. www.cochranelibrary.com/cdsr/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD006723/full
- Martin, M. (2014). How the Family Start programme is working for programme staff and for clients with high needs. Ministry of Social Development
- Matheson, I. (2020a). *Oranga Tamariki early interventions: A synthesis of recent research and evaluations*. Oranga Tamariki Evidence Centre. <a href="https://www.orangatamariki.govt.nz/about-us/research/our-research/a-synthesis-of-recent-research-on-early-intervention/">www.orangatamariki.govt.nz/about-us/research/our-research/a-synthesis-of-recent-research-on-early-intervention/</a>
- Matheson, I. (2020b). Strengthening Families: Research on how the programme operates. Oranga Tamariki Evidence Centre.

  www.orangatamariki.govt.nz/aboutus/research/our-research/the-strengthening-families-programme/
- McDonald, M., Moore, T. & Goldfeld, S. (2012). Sustained home visiting for vulnerable families and children: A literature review of effective programs prepared for Australian Research Alliance for Children and Youth. Parkville, Victoria: The Royal Children's Hospital Centre for Community Child Health, Murdoch Children's Research Institute.

  www.rch.org.au/uploadedFiles/Main/Content/ccch/resources and publications/Home visiting lit review programs revised Nov2012(1).pdf
- McFarlane, E., Burrell, L., Fuddy, L., Tandon, D., Derauf, D., Leaf, P., & Duggan, A. (2010). Association of home visitors' and mothers' attachment style with family engagement. *Journal of Community Psychology*, *38*(5), 541–556. doi.org/10.1002/jcop.20380
- MDRC. (n.d.). Evidence-based home visiting models [webpage]. <u>www.mdrc.org/evidence-based-home-visiting-models</u>



- Mejdoubi J., van den Heijkant S., van Leerdam F., Crone M., Crijnen A., & Hirasing R. (2014). Effects of nurse home visitation on cigarette smoking, pregnancy outcomes and breastfeeding: A randomized controlled trial. *Midwifery*, *30*, 688–95.
  - www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S026661381300243X?via%3Dihub
- Mejdoubi J., van den Heijkant S., van Leerdam F., Heymans M., Crijnen A., & Hirasing R. (2015). The effect of VoorZorg, the Dutch Nurse Family Partnership, on child maltreatment and development: A randomized controlled trial. *PLoS ONE* 10(4), 1–14.
  - www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4382107/pdf/pone.0120182.pdf
- Mersky, J. P., & Janczewski, C. E. (2018). Adverse childhood experiences and postpartum depression in home visiting programs: Prevalence, association, and mediating mechanisms. *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, 22(7), 1051–1058.
- Ministry of Health. (2020). *Well Child Tamariki Ora review report*. www.health.govt.nz/system/files/documents/publications/well-child-tamariki-ora-review-report-2020-jul21.pdf
- Modernising Child, Youth and Family Expert Panel. (2015). *Expert panel's final repor*t. www.msd.govt.nz/documents/about-msd-and-ourwork/publications-resources/corporate/expert-panel-cyf/investing-in-children-report.pdf
- Molloy, C., Beatson, R., Harrop, R., Perini, N., & Goldfeld, S. (2021). Systematic review: Effects of sustained nurse home visiting programs for disadvantaged mothers and children. *Advanced Nursing*, 7, 147–161. onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1111/jan.14576
- Molly Wardaguga Research Centre. (n.d.). *The Australian Nurse-Family Partnership Program*. www.anfpp.com.au/
- Morrison, C., Sparr, M., & Ramsook, S. (2020, May). Implementing trauma-informed approaches in home visiting (National Home Visiting Resource Center research snapshot brief). James Bell Associates. <a href="https://nhvrc.org/wp-content/uploads/NHVRC-Brief-050720-FINAL.pdf">nhvrc.org/wp-content/uploads/NHVRC-Brief-050720-FINAL.pdf</a>
- Mowbray, C., Holter, M., Teague, G., & Bybee, D. (2003). Fidelity criteria: Development, measurement, and validation. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 24(3), 315–340. doi.org/10.1177/109821400302400303
- National (US) Center for Healthy Safe Children. (2010). Key components of a successful early childhood home visitation system: A self-assessment tool for states. <a href="https://www.zerotothree.org/resources/174-key-components-of-a-successful-early-childhood-home-visitation-system">www.zerotothree.org/resources/174-key-components-of-a-successful-early-childhood-home-visitation-system</a>
- National (US) Center for Healthy Safe Children. (n.d.). Enhanced home visiting through increased focus on social and emotional well-being [webpage]. <a href="https://exafechildren.org/topics/enhanced-home-visiting-through-increased-focus-social-and-emotional-well-being">healthysafechildren.org/topics/enhanced-home-visiting-through-increased-focus-social-and-emotional-well-being</a>



- National [Canadian] Collaborating Centre for the Determinants of Health. (2009). Pan-Canadian inventory of public health early child home visiting: Key facts and glossary. nccdh.ca/images/uploads/TK KeyFactsGlossaryJune25 v61.pdf
- National [US] Home Visiting Resource Center. (2021). 2021 Home Visiting Yearbook. James Bell Associates and the Urban Institute. <a href="https://nhvrc.org/yearbook/2021-yearbook/">nhvrc.org/yearbook/2021-yearbook/</a>
- Nievar, M., van Egeren, L., & Pollard, S. (2010). A meta-analysis of home visiting programs: Moderators of improvements in maternal behavior. *Infant Mental Health*, *31*(5):499–520. doi:10.1002/imhj.20269
- Office of the Chief Ombudsman. (2020). *He Take Kōhukihuki* | *A Matter of Urgency*. Author.
  - www.ombudsman.parliament.nz/resources/he-take-kohukihuki-matter-urgency
- Office of the Children's Commissioner. (2015). Being child-centred: Elevating children's interests in the work of your organisation.

  www.occ.org.nz/assets/Publications/Being-Child-Centred.pdf
- Office of the Children's Commissioner. (2020a). *Pēpi Māori and the care and protection system*.

  <u>www.occ.org.nz/publications/reports/pepi-maori-and-the-care-and-protection-system/</u>
- Office of the Children's Commissioner. (2020b). Te Kuku O Te Manawa: Ka puta te riri, ka momori te ngākau, ka heke ngā roimata mo tōku pēpi A review of what needs to change to enable pēpi Māori aged 0-3 months to remain in the care of their whānau in situations where Oranga Tamariki—Ministry for Children is notified of care and protection concerns [report 1]. Wellington, New Zealand: Author. www.occ.org.nz/assets/Uploads/TKTM-JUNE2020-Final.pdf
- Office of the Children's Commissioner. (2020c). Te Kuku O Te Manawa: Moe ararā! Haumanutia ngā moemoeā a ngā tūpuna mō te oranga o ngā tamariki A review of what needs to change to enable pēpi Māori aged 0-3 months to remain in the care of their whānau in situations where Oranga Tamariki—Ministry for Children is notified of care and protection concerns [report 2]. Wellington, New Zealand: Author. <a href="www.occ.org.nz/assets/Uploads/Te-Kuku-O-Te-Manawa-Report-2-OCC.pdf">www.occ.org.nz/assets/Uploads/Te-Kuku-O-Te-Manawa-Report-2-OCC.pdf</a>
- Olds, D. (2007). Feedback: Article home-based support for disadvantaged teenage mothers. Cochrane Database of Systematic reviews.

  www.cochranelibrary.com/cdsr/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD006723.pub2/full?highlightAbstract=visiting%7Cvisit%7Cchildren%7Chome%7Cchild
- Olds, D. (2015). Building evidence to improve maternal and child health [Commentary]. *The Lancet*, 387(10014), 105–107. www.thelancet.com/action/showPdf?pii=S0140-6736%2815%2900476-6



- Olds, D., Sadler, L., & Kitzman, H. (2007). Programs for parents of infants and toddlers: Recent evidence from randomized trials. *Child Psychology and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines, 48*(3-4), 355–91. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7610.2006.01702.x.
- Oranga Tamariki. (2018) *Outcomes framework*. www.orangatamariki.govt.nz/about-us/how-we-work/outcomes-framework/
- Oranga Tamariki. (2019). Practice Review: Professional Practice Group practice review into the Hastings case.

  www.orangatamariki.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/About-us/News/2019/Practice-Review/Hawkes-Bay-Practice-Review.pdf
- Oranga Tamariki. (2021). *Oranga Tamariki future direction action plan*. www.orangatamariki.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/About-us/News/2021/MAB-report-action-plan-release/OT-Future-Direction-Action-Plan.pdf
- Oranga Tamariki. (2022). Family Start programme manual. www.orangatamariki.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/Support-for-families/Support-programmes/Family-Start/Family-Start-manual.pdf
- Oranga Tamariki. (n.d.). Family Start referral guide.

  www.orangatamariki.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/Support-for-families/Support-programmes/Family-Start/Family-Start-referral-guide.pdf
- Osbourne, C. (2016). Home visiting programs: Four evidence-based lessons for policymakers review. Behavioral Science & Policy, 2(1), 29–36. behavioralpolicy.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/BSP\_vol1is1\_Osborne.pdf
- Owens, S. (2010). An introductory guide to the key terms and interagency initiatives in use in the Children's Services Committees in Ireland.

  www.lenus.ie/bitstream/handle/10147/299000/SupportingChildrensServCommitte
  esnitiative.pdf;jsessionid=83C6A7342351CDC2C4EFD61E5053674C?sequence=
  1
- Outcomes Star. (2018). New mum star: The Outcomes Star for preparing for and looking after your baby: User guide. Hove, England: Author. <a href="https://www.outcomesstar.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/New-Mum-Star-User-Guide-preview.pdf">www.outcomesstar.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/New-Mum-Star-User-Guide-preview.pdf</a>
- Parents as Teachers. (n.d.). Our global impact [webpage]. parentsasteachers.org/global-footprint
- Parton, N. (2017). Comparing child protection systems: Towards a global perspective. In P. Dolan & N. Frost (Eds.), *Routledge handbook of global child welfare*, 225–242. Abingdon, England: Routledge.
- Paulsell D., & Avellar S. (2011). *Home Visiting Evidence of Effectiveness: Executive Summary.* Mathematica Policy Research.
- Paulsell, D., Del Grosso, P., & Supplee, L. (2014). Supporting replication and scale-up of evidence-based home visiting programs: Assessing the implementation



- knowledge base. *American Journal of Public Health, 104*, 1624–1632. doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2014.301962
- Peacock, S. Konrad, S., Watson, E., Nickel, D. & Muhajarine, N. (2013). Effectiveness of home visiting programs on child outcomes: A systematic review. *BMC Public Health*, *13*(17). <a href="https://www.researchgate.net/publication/234098024">www.researchgate.net/publication/234098024</a> Effectiveness of home visiting programs on child outcomes A systematic review
- Plunket (2021). Plunketline [webpage]. <a href="https://www.plunket.org.nz/plunket/what-we-offer/plunketline/?gclid=EAlalQobChMljtaok6OE9AlV1QorCh3FbA-zEAAYASAAEgLnMPD">www.plunket.org.nz/plunket/what-we-offer/plunketline/?gclid=EAlalQobChMljtaok6OE9AlV1QorCh3FbA-zEAAYASAAEgLnMPD</a> BwE
- Rameka, L. & Fitzpatrick, M. (2017). [Review of Family Start Online Parenting Programme] *Final report* (unpublished report for the Ministry of Social Development). University of Waikato Wilf Malcolm Institute of Educational Research.
- Robling, M., Bekkers, M-J., Bell, K., Butler, C., Cannings-John, R., Channon, S., Martin, B., Gregory, J., Hood, K., Kemp, A., Kenkre, J., Montgomery, A., Moody, G., Owen-Jones, E., Pickett, K., Richardson, G., Roberts, Z., Ronaldson, S., Sanders, J., Stamuli, E., Torgerson, D. (2016). Effectiveness of a nurse-led intensive home-visitation programme for first-time teenage mothers (Building Blocks): A pragmatic randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet*, *387*, 146–155. www.thelancet.com/action/showPdf?pii=S0140-6736%2815%2900392-X
- Segal, L., Opie, R., & Dalziel, K. (2012). Theory! The missing link in understanding the performance of neonate/infant home-visiting programs to prevent child maltreatment: A systematic review. *The Milbank Quarterly, (90)*1, 47–106.
- Shlonsky, A., & Benbenishty, R. (2014). Introduction. In A. Shlonsky & R. Benbenishty (Eds.), *From evidence to outcomes in child welfare: An international reader*, 3–23. New York, NY: Oxford University.
- Sierau, S., Dahne, V., Brand, T., Kurtz, V., von Klitzing, K., & Jungmann, T. (2016). Effects of home visitation on maternal competencies, family environment, and child development: A randomized controlled trial. *Prevention Science*, *17*(1), 40–51. pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26103919/
- Social Policy Evaluation and Research Unit. (2015). *Effective parenting programmes* (What works series). <a href="mailto:thehub.swa.govt.nz/resources/effective-parenting-programmes-what-works/">thehub.swa.govt.nz/resources/effective-parenting-programmes-what-works/</a>
- State of Hawaii Department of Health. (n.d.). Healthy Start program [webpage]. health.hawaii.gov/mchb/home/healthy-start-program/
- Supplee, L. (2016). 5 things to know about early childhood home visiting. *Child Trends*.

  <u>www.childtrends.org/publications/5-things-to-know-about-early-childhood-home-visiting</u>.



- Sweet, M. & Appelbaum, M. (2004). Is home visiting an effective strategy? A metaanalytic review of home visiting programs for families with young children (Review). *Child Development* 75(5), 1435–1456.
- Te Kete Ipurangi. (n.d.). Teen parent units [webpage]. alternativeeducation.tki.org.nz/Teen-parent-units
- Te Puni Kōkiri. (2016). Formative evaluation of the Whānau Ora commissioning agency model: An independent evaluation report.

  www.tpk.govt.nz/en/a-matoumohiotanga/whānau -ora/formative-evaluation-of-the-whānau -ora-model.pdf
- Te Puni Kōkiri. (2018a). *Whānau Ora annual summary report 1 July 2016-30 June 2017*. www.tpk.govt.nz/en/a-matou-mohiotanga/whanau-ora/whanauora-annual-summary-report-2016-2017
- Te Puni Kōkiri. (2018-b). Whānau Ora review/ Tipu matoro ki te ao final report to the Minister for Whānau Ora. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.tpk.govt.nz/docs/tpk-wo-review-2019.pdf">www.tpk.govt.nz/docs/tpk-wo-review-2019.pdf</a>
- Te Puni Kōkiri. (2019). *Pūrongo-ā-tau: Annual Report 2019*. www.tpk.govt.nz/en/a-matou-mohiotanga/corporate-documents/purongoatauannual-report-2019
- Te Puni Kōkiri. (2020). Whānau Ora [web page]. www.tpk.govt.nz/en/whakamahia/whanau-ora
- Vaithianathan, R., Wilson, M., Maloney, T., & Baird, S. (2016). The impact of the Family Start home visiting programme on outcomes for mothers and children. <a href="https://www.msd.govt.nz/about-msd-and-our-work/publicationsresources/evaluation/family-start-outcomes-study/">work/publicationsresources/evaluation/family-start-outcomes-study/</a>
- van Assen, A., Knot-Dickscheit, J., Post, W., & Grietens, H. (2020). Home-visiting interventions for families with complex and multiple problems: A systematic review and meta-analysis of out-of-home placement and child outcomes. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 114. doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2020.104994
- Waitangi Tribunal. (2021). He pāharakeke, he rito whakakīkinga whāruarua Oranga Tamariki urgent inquiry.

  forms.justice.govt.nz/search/Documents/WT/wt DOC 171027305/He%20Pahara keke%20W.pdf

